
Homicides of Adults in Maine, 1630-1692PRIVATE 

Class of death:   

Class of crime:   

Relationship:    

Motive:  


Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other Legal records:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


 1631, Oct. 3




Richmond Isle, MAINE

CT





(in Casco Bay, south of Cape Elizabeth)
HIST
Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM \ MURDER:  

Rela:    NONDOM two Englishmen by Indians

Motive:  REVENGE for sharp trading practices \ ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  Squidragset "and his company" and Black Will m. Walter Bagnall (aka Great Watt) and John Bray


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  killed them, burned the house over them, "& carried awaye theri gunnes & what els they liked."


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  8/1632t


Court proceedings:  Mass. Bay agreed to cooperate with Plymouth in apprehending the guilty.  1/1633:  Black Will was executed without a formal trial.  According to Winthrop's Journal (87:  1/17/1633), several pinnaces had been pursuing pirates along the Maine -- "in their returne they hanged up at Richmans Ile an Indian one Black will one of those who had there murdered walter Bagnall."

Source:  

John Noble, ed., Records of the Court of Assistants of the Colony of the Massachusetts Bay (Boston:  County of Suffolk, 1901-1928), v. 2, pt. 1: 25-26


Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 58, 87, 87n46.

Winthrop, 58 (10/22/1631):  "This Bagnall was sometymes servant to one in the Baye, & these 3: yeares had dwelt alone in the said Ile, & had gotten about 400li. iust in goodes he was a wicked fellowe & had muche wronged the Indians."


Reid, 67, 90-4.


William Wood, New England's Prospect, ed. Alden T. Vaughan (Amherst:  Univ. of Mass. Press, 1977), 79-80.

"disorders, quarrels, wrongs, unconscionable and forcive wresting of beaver and wampompeag, and from overflowing cups there hath been a proceeding to revenge, murther, and overflowing of blood. . . .  Another who was situated on Richmond's Island, living as he list amongst them, making his coventous corrupt will his law, after many abuses was with his family one evening treacherously murthered under a fair pretence of trade; so that these that lived beside the law of God and their king, and the light of nature, died by their hands that cared neither for God, king, nor nature."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

WB:  Libby, 72:  came as a servant to Mass., perhaps by 1623.  At Richmond Island operating a trading post since 1628.  Had accumulated wealth by unscrupulous dealings with the Indians.  murdered 2 months before the Island was granted to him by the Council of New England.  


WB:  JW 58n46:  WB "may have been one of Morton's crew at Merry Mount."


WB:  Calendar of State Papers, 1574-1660, 137.


SQ:  William Willis, History of Portland, 2nd ed. (Portland, Me., 1865), 26-7.

Accused 1:  

Squidragset "and his company" 

Ethnicity:

Abenaki

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


on Presumpscot River

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

sagamore; sachem of a tribe on the Presumpscot River

Accused 2:  

Black Will 

Ethnicity:

Abenaki

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


on Presumpscot River

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Walter Bagnall (aka Great Watt) 

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

operating a trading post since 1628 on Richmond Island.  May have been on of Morton's crew at Merry Mount.  Had accumulated great wealth by the time of his death.  Came to Mass. as a servant, c. 1623

Town:


Richmond Island

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

John Bray

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

kept the trading post on Richmond Island with WB

Town:


Richmond Island

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1632, [Jan.]




ME

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  prob. ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  Eastern Indians m. Henry Way & four other English traders or fishermen


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  on the coast of Maine


Inquest:  


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 70-1.



Entry of June 5, 1632:  "A shalloppe of one Hen: waye of dorechester havinge been missinge all the winter, it was fonde that the men in her benige 5: were all killed treacherously by the Easterne Indians."


William Wood, New England's Prospect, ed. Alden T. Vaughan (Amherst:  Univ. of Mass. Press, 1977), 79-80.



"disorders, quarrels, wrongs, unconscionable and forcive wresting of beaver and wampompeag, and from overflowing cups there hath been a proceeding to revenge, murther, and overflowing of blood.  As witness Master Way's boat, which they sunk with stones after they had killed his son, with three more, buzzing the English in the ears that they see it buldged against the rocks and the men drowned in the beating surges.  But afterwards, being betrayed, as many as were caught were hanged."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:

Abenaki or Micmac

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Henry Way et al.

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w
Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

[fishermen]

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1632, Aug.




ME

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM Englishman by an Indian

Motive:  ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


HOM:  unk. Indian m. Reynolds Jenkins


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  victim was asleep in a wigwam of one of Passaconaway's men.  He was trading in the up country.  The assailant stole RJ's goods and made away with them.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  assailant fled, but was captured and brought back by Passaconaway.  Never tried, however, by English courts, and no record of how the Penacooks dealt with the man.

Source:  

Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 80.



Entry of 9/4/1632:  "One Jenkins late an Inhabitant at dorchester, & now removed to Cape Porpus, went with an Indian up into Countrye with store of goodes to trucke: & beinge a sleepe in a wigwam of one of pessaconaways men was killed in the nighte by an Indian dwellinge neere the mohackes countrye who fledd away with his goodes, but was fetched back by Pessaconaway." (a sachem of the Pennacooks).

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
RJ:  came to Dorchester in 1630.  History of the Town of Dorchester, 94.

RJ:  Libby, 377

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


lived near the Mohawk country

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Reynolds Jenkins

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

trader with the Indians

Town:


Cape Porpus, near the mouth of the Saco River, formerly of Dorchester, Mass. (where he arrived in 1630)

Birthplace:

b. England

Religion:




Organizations:



1632, Nov.



Pemaquid, ME

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM English pirate by Indians

Motive:  REPELLING a pirate raid

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. Indians m. unk. English pirate


Weapon:  shot by a musket


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  no / justified


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 84-85.  See also 85n50, 42n61, 70, 70n95, 87, 91


84:  11/21 & 23/1632:  letter to Winthrop from Capt. Neal that Dixy Bull & 15 or more of the English "who kept about the East, were turned Pirates & had taken divers Boates & rifled Pemaquid &c."  Winthrop & the Council agreed to sent Burke with 20 men to join with those of Pascataqke [New Hampshire] "for the takinge of the said pirates."


85:  12/5/1632:  The settlers of New Hampshire sent out 4 pinnaces and shallops & about 40 men against the pirates.  The Pirates lost one of their chief men by a musket shot from Pemaquid.  Winthrop heard from Capt. Neale [William Neale, a soldier who had fought in Germany & managed a trading post on the Piscataqua River, 1630-6, as agent for Gorges and Mason] & from Mr. Hilton [Edward or William Hilton, brothers, were London fishmongers who had come to the Piscataqua in 1623 & settled in Dover Point, NH] that there remained 15 men in the pirate crew (4 or 5 of whom were "detained against their willes" by the pirates).  "they had been at some Englishe plantations, & taken nothing from them but what they payd for.  & that they had given another pinace in exchange for that of mr maverickes & as muche beaver & otter as it was worthe more &c:  & that they allso. they had had made a lawe against excessive drinkinge:  & that there order was at suche tymes as other Shippes use to have prayer, they would assemble upon the decke, & one singe a songe, or speake a fewe sencelesse sentences &c they allso sent a writinge directed to all the Governors signifiinge their intent, not to doe harme to any more of their Countrymen, but to goe to the Southward & to advise them not to send against them, for they were resolved to sinke themselves rather then be taken:  signed under neathe fortune le gard [Let fortune watch over you!].  & no name to it."



Dunn, et al., cites Marcus Rediker, "Under the Banner of King Death:  The Social World of Anglo-American Pirates, 1716 to 1726," William and Mary Quarterly, 38 (1981), 203-27.  On the pirates' parody of social values they rejected.


87:  entry, Feb. 17, 1633:  "About the beginninge of this monthe of January the pnaces which went after the Pirrates returned, the colde beinge so great as they could not pursue [them], but in their returne they hanged up at Richmans Ile an Indian one Balck will one of those who had there murdered walter Bagnall.  3: of the Pirates companye ranned from them, & came home."


91:  entry, May, 1633:  "we sent forthe a pinace after the pirate Bull, but after she had been forthe 2: months, she came home, havinge not fond him.  after we heard, he was gone to the Frenche.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

Dixie Bull:  in June, 1632, the French "came in a pinace to Penobscot, & rifeled a truckinge house belonginge to Plimouthe carringe thence 300 weight of beaver & other goods.  They tooke allso one Dixie Bull & his shallop & goodes."  (JW, 70).


JW, 70n95:  DB of London had been granted land a York River in 1631 by Sir Ferdinando Gorges.  When the French interfered with his efforts to trade along the coast, he turned pirate in 1632, "the first in New England waters."  See George F. Dow and John H. Edmonds, The Pirates of the New England Coast, 1630-1730 (Salem, Mass., 1923), 20-22.

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adults

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  


___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

pirate.  One of Dixy Bull's chief men.

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1633, [Jan.]




Richmond Isle, MAINE

HIST




(in Casco Bay, south of Cape Elizabeth)
Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM \ MURDER

Rela:    NONDOM 

Motive:  LYNCHING / REVENGE for murder of traders

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  unknown English seamen m. Black Will


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  captured and executed him without a trial for the murders of Bagnall and Bray in 1631.  Mass. Bay agreed to cooperate with Plymouth in apprehending the guilty.  1/1633:  Black Will was executed without a formal trial.  According to Winthrop's Journal (87:  1/17/1633), several pinnaces had been pursuing pirates along the Maine -- "in their returne they hanged up at Richmans Ile an Indian one Black will one of those who had there murdered walter Bagnall."


Inquest:  


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

John Noble, ed., Records of the Court of Assistants of the Colony of the Massachusetts Bay (Boston:  County of Suffolk, 1901-1928), v. 2, pt. 1: 25-26


Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 87, 87n46.


Reid, 67, 90-4.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

WB:  Libby, 72:  came as a servant to Mass., perhaps by 1623.  At Richmond Island operating a trading post since 1628.  Had accumulated wealth by unscrupulous dealings with the Indians.  murdered 2 months before the Island was granted to him by the Council of New England.  


WB:  JW 58n46:  WB "may have been one of Morton's crew at Merry Mount."


WB:  Calendar of State Papers, 1574-1660, 137.


SQ:  William Willis, History of Portland, 2nd ed. (Portland, Me., 1865), 26-7.

Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:


Victim 1:  

Black Will 

Ethnicity:

Abenaki

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


on Presumpscot River

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1633, Nov.




Machias, ME

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  French soldiers m. two English traders


Weapon:  guns [musket]


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 103, 103n33, 103n34, 140-1.



103:  Entry Nov. 12, 1633:  "Newes of the taking of machias by the Frenche, mr Allerton of Plimouthe & some others had sett up a trading wigwam there, & lefte in it 5: men & store of Comoditys:  la Tour [the governor of Acadia] Governor of the Frenche in those partes makinge claime to the place, came to displant them, & finding resistance killed 2: of the men & carried awaye the other 3: & the goodes."



140-1:  Entry Jan. 1635:  "About the middle of this monthe mr Allertons Pinace came from the Frenche about Porte Royall, they went to fetche the 2: men which had been carried by the French from machias to demande the goodes taken &c: but mr La Toure made the Answer that he tooke them as lawfull prize, & that he had Authoritye from the K: of Fr: who challenged all from Cape Sable to Cape Codd: wisshing them to take notice & to certife the rest of the Englishe that if they traded to the East of Pemaquid he would make prize of them: beinge desired to shewe his Commission he Answered that his sworde was Comission sufficient where he had strengthe to overcome: where that wanted he would shewe his Comissions."


Reid, 84-5.


Alfred A. Cave, The Pequot War (Amherst:  Univ. of Mass. P, 1996), 78-79.  See Cave also on the international political dispute between the French and the English, during which the murder took place:  


WAR by FRENCH against ENGLISH TRADERS in MAINE in 1632 and 1635 (77-78):  in 1632, the Plymouth trading post at Kennebec was looted by French raiders.  Later in 1632, the French struck a trading fort at Machias owned by Thomas Allerton, the controversail agent of Plymouth's creditors in England.  Two of TA's men were killed, 3 taken captive, and all his goods seized.  



In 1635, the French seized Plymouth's trading post in Maine.  The commander of the French expedition, Capt. D'Auny, promised to pay for the goods he seized, but he never made good on his pledge; and he seized the post itself outright, "saying that they which build on another man's ground do forfeit the same."  Plymouth sent an expedition in 1635 under ship captain Girlings to dislodge the French from the post, but the French were too well entrenched and the expedition failed.  

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:

___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

trader

Town:


Machias

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:


___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

trader

Town:


Machias

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1634, Jan.





HIST

Class:   probable 

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM Englishman by Indians

Motive:  poss. ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. Indians m. an Englishman


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  while trading in the backcountry


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 109


109:  1/24/1634:  "An Englishman of Sacoe travaylinge into the Contrye to trade, was killed by the Indians."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adults

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  


___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

trader

Town:


Saco

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1634, Apr.



Kennebec

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:   NONDOM Englishman (of Plymouth) by Englishman (of Piscataqua) and vice versa

Motive: POLITICAL / TERRITORIAL & TRADE DISPUTE b/w Plymouth & Piscataqua; murder & retaliation murder

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  John Hocking m. Moses Talbot; unk. Englishman m. John Hocking


Weapon:  MT:  musket shot to head.  JH:  musket shot.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  Mass. Bay put John Alden (the asst. governor of Plymouth Colony, who had been at Plymouth's trading post at Kennebec when the murders occurred), when he arrived in Boston, under bonds not to depart without leave.  Mass. Bay contacted Plymouth and asked whether "they would doe justice in the Cause (as belonginge to their Jurisdiction)."  8/1634:  Plym. & Pisc. authorities arrange to meet to discuss the murders.  10/1634:  Pisc. authorities seek the support of Mass. Bay in the dispute.  //  according to Cave, Pequot War, 79-80, Mass. Bay held an inquiry into the murders and found Hocking responsible for his own death, a finding that Mass. Bay communicated to Lord Saye and Sele on Plymouth's behalf.

Source:  
William Bradford, Of Plymouth Plantation, 262-8.

M.C.R., 246.

Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 114-115.  SEE ALSO 122-3, 122n6, 120n97, 131, 125, 100-1, 101n23, 124-5!


114n74:  Plymouth's patent of 1630 from the Council for New England "granted the Pilgrims title to the land on the Kennebec, and the liberty of trade and fishing there.  This put them in conflict with Lord Brooke and Viscount Saye and Sele, new owners of the fishing station at Pascataquack, who were hoping through the agency of John Hocking to tap the Kennebec fur trade."  115n78:  JW intervened:  worried that Charles I might use the Hocking murder to intervene in New England affairs, & that Lord Saye & Sele 


114-115 (5/3/1634):  JH, representing the proprietors of the fishing station at Piscataqua, came in a pinnace to trade at Kennebec.  Two of the magistrates of Plymouth, being there, forbid him, "yet he went up the river, & because he would not come downe againe, they sent 3: men in a Canoe to cutt his Cables havinge cutt one" Hocking "presented a peece & sware he would kill him that went to Cutt the other:  they badd him doe if he hurst & went on to cutt it thereupon he killed one of them [Moses Talbot], & instantly one in the Plim. pinace (which rode by them & wherin 5: or 6: men stood with their peeces readye charged) shott & killed Hockin."  John Alden was one of the Plymouth magistrates present when JH was slain.


JW's commentary:  Told Plymouth "we did disavowe the said Action, which was muche condemned of all men. & which was feared would give occasion to the kinge to sende a general Governor over, & besides had brought us all, & the Gospell under a Common reproache of cuttinge one anothers throates for Beaver."  [[SUPERB:  QUOTE him!]]


125 (8/19/1634):  "mr Bradford & mr Collier [William Collier, an English merchant who invested in Plymouth as a commercial venture, moved to the colony & settled at Duxbury] of Plim. came to Boston havinge appointed a meetinge heere the weeke before, but by reason of foule weather were driven backe; they had written to Capt. wiggin of Pascat. about the meetinge for hereinge the Cause of Hockins deathe."


131 (10/14/1634):  The proprietors of the fishing station at Pisc. [Lord Saye & Brooke] write to Mass. Bay "that howsoever they might have sent a man of warre, to beat downe the howse [Plymouth's] at Kenebecke for the deathe of Hockin &c: yet they thought better to take another Course, & therfore desired that some of ours might be joyned with Capt. wiggin their agent at Pascat. to see justice doone &c:"


Reid, 83-7.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

MT:  a kinsman of John Alden & his wife Priscilla [Mullens] of Plymouth


JH:  Libby, 341:  his kinsmen in Boston took a hand in the conflict with the Plymouth interests.  N. E. Reg. 9.80; Me. Hist. Coll. 3.2.322


Lords Saye and Sele:  (JW 114n74:  they were the new owners of the fishing station at Piscataqua)

Accused & Victim:  
John Hocking

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

fur trader, working for the owner of the fishing station at Piscataqua (the influential Puritan nobleman Lord Saye and Sele)

Town:


Kennebec (from Piscataqua)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused:  

___


Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

trader

Town:


Kennebec (from Plymouth)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Moses Talbot

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m
Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

trader

Town:


Kennebec (from Plymouth)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1644, summer [July]




Pentagouet [Penobscot]

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM:  2 adults

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  supporters of d'Aulnay m. Thomas Wannerton; and supporters of LaTour m. a supporter of d'Aulnay


Weapon:  probably shot [musket]


Circumstances:  TW killed while assisting Charles La Tour in a raid on d'Aulnay at Pentagouet [the French settlement at the mouth of the Penobscot River].  The other victim killed defending d'Aulnay's post.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  none

Source:  

Henry Sweetser Burrage, The Beginnings of Colonial Maine, 1602-1658 (Portland:  The State of Maine, 1914), 275.  Burrage writes that Hubbard, Hutchinson and the "early writers" of New England history passed down the story from tradition.  See also Williamson, History of the State of Maine, 1:  315.



In the summer of 1644, traders on the coast, who were upset that LaTour and d'Aulnay would not settle with them for past purchases, "decided to press their claims jointly and personally."  Sent Abraham Shurt of Pemaquid, Richard Vines of Saco, and Thomas Wannerton of Piscataqua.  When they arrived in Penobscot, d'Aulnay imprisoned them, then allowed them to depart, but refused to settle with them.  They went on the St. John, where La Tour "suggested an attack" on d'Aulnay.  TW joined LaTour's expedition, but Shurt & Vines remained aloof, "though both doubtless were ready to share in any financial results that would enable la Tour to discharge his obligations to them."




La Tour's force had about 20 men.  Probably found the post too strongly defended, because they proceeded "probably undetected" about 6 mi. from the fort to where 3 of d'Aulnay's men were posted.  One of d'Aulnay's men killed in the attack, as was TW.  "the remaining two of Aulnay's men were taken prisoners.  The house was then burned, some cattle were killed and the attacking party soon withdrew" to Boston, where sympathies favored LaTour.


John Noble, ed., Records of the Court of Assistants of the Colony of the Massachusetts Bay (Boston:  County of Suffolk, 1901-1928), 2:  55.



In 1635, TW brought into court in Boston, charged with having spoken abusively to John Holland of Massachusetts "at the Eastward" -- "an called him roage and knave, and said they were all soe in the Bay, and that he hoped to see all their throates cutt, and that hee could finde it in his heart to begin with him."  [[NOTE:  Reid interprets this as antagonism to Mass. authority and to Mass.'s spiritual beliefs.]]


John G. Reid, Acadia, Maine, and New Scotland:  Marginal Colonies in the Seventeenth Century (Toronto:  University of Toronto Press, 1981), 92-3 (on TW), 47-8, 52-3, 55-6, 70, 73, 92, 95-9, 109-111, 115-16, 128, 219n74 (on the conflict b/w La Tour and d'Aulnay).



1638:  the French crown decides to divide Acadia b/w La Tour and d'Aulnay.



early 1641:  after having tried unsuccessfully to divide Acadia b/w La Tour & d'Aulnay, the French crown decided in favor of d'Aulnay.  La Tour seeks the support of the English & of Mass. Bay



7/14/1643:  La Tour sailed from Boston with four hired ships and crews [the last assistance he would ever receive from Mass. Bay], in addition to a ship & 140 men he had brought with him from France, to raise d'Aulnay's blockade on his fort on the St. John River.  La Tour made a partly successful assault on Port Royal.



4/1645:  La Tour's fort on the St. John fell.  Marked the defeat of La Tour.  THE EXECUTIONS.  //  


J. M. Bumsted, The Peoples of Canada (Toronto:  Oxford University Press, 1992), 1: 64.  Madame de La Tour commanded the defense of Fort La Tour:  her 45 defenders held out 4 days against 200 invaders.  Surrendered on understanding that d'Aulnay would 'give quarter to all,' but "All the captives were hanged."  Madame de La Tour was forced to witness the executions with a rope around her nec k, & d. a few weeks later.  Her husband was away at Boston at the time, seeking further assistance.  [[NOTE:  Reid, 110, says that some defenders were spared & the rest hanged.  In d'Aulnay's words, 'la reste des plus seditieux [[the most serious traitors, in d'Aulnay's opinion]] fut pendu, et Etranglé pour servir de momoire et d'exemple a la posterité."]



NOTE:  Reid 110n35:  Hippolite Bourget, sea captain, hired by Emmanuel Le Borgne in 1643 to carry supplies to d'Aulnay at Port Royal & pressed into the service in the blockade of the St. John, was wounded in 1643 in the battle at Port Royal. 


Denys, 114-16:  on the fall of the fort at St. John in 1645.  Says that all but one of the defenders was hanged -- the one was spared on the condition that he perform the executions.  //  116n1:  the only other account in the the Proces [\ accent over the e] Verbal of André Certain (printed in the Appendix to Parkman, Old Regime in Canada, translated by Gilbert Bent in Acadiensis, 5 (    ), 39.  That account is pro-a'Aulnay & offers a less harsh account of the treatment of the prisoners -- but ed. notes that all the other documents point in the same direction, toward the execution of all but one member of the garrison.


Winthrop, 597-8 (entry of 9/3/1645):  on the fall of the fort at St. John in 1645.  d'Aulnay suffered 12 men killed & many wounded.  "putt to deathe all the men (bothe Frenche & Englishe)" & sent Madame La Tour, her little child, & "her gentlewoman" back to France.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

d'Aulnay:  d. 1650 in boating accident at Port Royal.


La Tour:  d. 1663 in France.

Accused 1:  

___ [Wannerton's murderer]

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Pentagouet

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

___ [murderer of d'Aulnay's supporter]

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


St. Johns

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:

Thomas Wannerton

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

ship's captain / trader

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:

anti-Puritan

Organizations:



Victim 2:  

___ [Wannerton's murderer]

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Pentagouet

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1644, Sept.



Accomenticus [aka York]

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:   MARITAL HUSBAND by WIFE (suspected) & NONDOM by wife's lover

Motive: ADULTERY to rid herself [& himself] of her unwanted husband

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  Catherine Cornish (& possibly Thomas Footman and/or John Hull, Jr.) m. Richard Cornish (CC's husband)


Weapon:  head bruised, pole stuck in his side, found in the river (& his canoe filled with clay & sunk)  [club]


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, CC for murder.


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  CC:  fG.  DEATH.  Executed 12/1644.

Source:  

Daniel Allen Hearn, Legal Executions in New England:  A Comprehensive Reference, 1623-1960 (Jefferson, North Carolina:  McFarland, 1999), 11-12.


Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 563-4


Ed.:  CC brought before the General Court in 1634 & was charged with "incontinency" in 1638.  (MR, 1: 123, 233).


CC accused Edward Johnson and Roger Garde (the major of York and the recorder of the York Court, who came from Bideford, Devon, to Maine in 1637) of committing adultery with her.  EJ confessed.  RG denied it, but JW still suspected him.


563-4 (10/4/1644):  "One Cornishe dwelling sometyme in weymouthe removed to Accomenticus, for more outward accommodation, & in the month last was taken up in the river, his head brused & a pole stickinge in his side, & his Canoe laden with Claye fonde sunke: his wife (beinge a leud woman & suspected to have fellowshippe with one Footman) comminge to her husbande, he bledd abundantly, & so he did also, when footman was brought to him: but no evidence could be fonde against him: then somethinge was discovered against the sone of mr Hull their minister & the woman was arrayned before the maior mr Roger Garde, & other of the Province of maine, & stronge presumptions came in against her whereupon she was condemned & executed:  she persisted in the denyall of the murder to the deathe, but confessed to have lived in Adulterye with diverse, she charged 2: specially: the said Gard the maior, & one Ed: Johnson [had been licensed by JW as an Indian trader in Aug. 1632, had lived in York since the early 1630s] , who confessed it openly at the type of her execution: but the maior denyed it: & it gave some likelyhood, that he was not guilty, because he had carried himselfe very zealously & impartially in discovery of the murder, but there might be skill in that, & he was but a Carnall man, & had no wife in the Contrye: & some wittnesse came in against him, ofhis acknowledgment to the woman &c:

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Libby, 163 (RC), 239 (TF)

Accused 1:  

Catherine Cornish

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Richard

Children:




Occupation:

[farm wife]

Town:


York [Accomenticus] (in Mass. by 1634; moved from Weymouth to York about 1640)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Thomas Footman

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


York [Accomenticus] (since at least 1639)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

John Hull, Jr.

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


23

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:

[son of Rev. Joseph Hull]

Occupation:



Town:


York [Accomenticus] (his father had moved to York recently from Barnstable, Plymouth Colony)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Richard Cornish

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Catherine

Children:




Occupation:

prob. farmer

Town:


York [Accomenticus] (in Mass. by 1634; moved from Weymouth to York about 1640)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1666, May



YORK

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM \ MANSL

Rela:    HHLD SERVANT by MASTER and MISTRESS

Motive:  PUNISHMENT / ABUSE / NEGLECT 

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Judith Weeks and Nathaniel Weeks m. Nicholas Woodman


Weapon:  cut off his toes [axe]


Circumstances:  tried at Western district of the court, so west of Kittery.


Inquest:  i.d. 6/1:  NW found suspiciously guilty by the coroner's jury of causing the death.  JW fNG by the coroner's jury.


Indictment?  NW not indicted for murder.  bnf by the grand jury.  [but appears to have been indicted for cruelty]


Term?:  9/18/1666t


Court proceedings:  7/9/1667:  the General Assembly found NW guilty of being "defective" in his duty to his servant. 

Source:  

Province and Court Records of Maine, v. 1 (Portland:  Maine Historical Society, 1928).  Charles T. Libby, ed.


SUSPICIOUS DEATH / ASSAULT [prob. MANSLAUGHTER]:  


262: June 1, 1666.  "Whereas Judeth Wix the wife of Nicho: Wix was bound over in a bond of 50li to our Soveraign Lord the King to answere her Confession for Cutting off her servant Nic: Woodmans toes, upon suspition of some further matter which possibly might appeare concerneing the death of the said Nicho: Woodman, but upon further Inquiry into the matter & nothing appeareing shee is hereby Accquitted from her bond of fivety pounds."


272:  Sept. 18, 1666:  "Whereas Nicho: Weekes of Kittery was bound over to the adjournement of this Court to answere his Inditement by the Coroners quest for being suspitiously guilty of the death of Nicho: Woodman, his servant, the case being transmitted to the grand Inquest, By the Grand Jury Nicho: Weeks was acquitted.


Nicho: Weekes Cleared by proclamation.


286:  July 9, 1667:  "Whereas the generall Assembly ordered an examination of the proceedeings of the Tryall of Nicho: Weekes & haveing examined the whoole matter, the Record freeth the said Weekes by proclamation in regard the Jury that Issued it affirmed In Court they were noe grand Jury, but a particular Jury of paress [a trial jury empanelled for a special session of court], and could not find the bill referred to their considerations.


The order made about Nic: Weekes his charges of 12li, 15s, 0d.  This Court finding a mischarage both in bench & Jury, in not takeing notice of the Charge that had been occasioned by the Coroners Inquest, to lay it upon the right persons, wee refer it to the Consideration of the Generall Court.  Inreard wee find Nicho: Weekes defective in his duty to his servant, which occasioned the death of the per x as the evidence of the Coroners Inquest Issues it, as alsoe wee find the Townes men of Kittery faulty that when Complaynt to them being made they had not caused his Master to provide for him.  Persons defective in their duty from whom comes dammage or charg must of right pay that dammage that cometh through their defect.


This Court desirs a forbearance of the publication of that order made formerly by the generall assembly about freeing the town of Kittery from that relateing to Mr. Nic: Weekes his Bussiness untill there bee a further debate thereof at the next Generall Assembly."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

Libby, 770:  mentions the incident.

Accused 1:  

Judith Weeks 

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Nathaniel

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Nathaniel Weeks 

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Judith

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Nicholas Woodman

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

servant of JW & NW

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1666, [July]



Black Point, YORK

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:  HOM MANSL [could have been a casualty, but probably not, given the 1 year bond, the involvement of CC in responsibility for his own death, etc.  Sounds like an unlucky blow struck in self-defense.]

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  [QUARREL] / FIGHT / SELF-DEFENSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  James Robinson [aka Robertson] m. Christopher Collins


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  tried at Eastern division of the court, so east of Kittery.


Inquest:  i.d. 7/26


Indictment?  yes, murder

Term?:  7/1666t at Scarborough

Court proceedings:  pNG.  fNG.  "Collines was slayn by misadventure & culpable of his own death & not upon anie former malice."



NOTE:  Libby, 591:  Frances Russell was still calling him a murderer in 1684.

Source:  

Province and Court Records of Maine, v. 1 (Portland:  Maine Historical Society, 1928).  Charles T. Libby, ed.


MANSLAUGHTER [it seems a fight happened here, not an accident; grand jury did indict]:  


316:  July 26, 1666.  "That whereas James Robinson of black poynte, Cooper, was Indited the 26 day of Julie, 1666, upon suspition of Murdering Christopher Collines of Black Poynte, at his Majestys Court houlden in Cascoe, and being tryd by the Grand Jury of this Court & Committed to us, the Jury of life & death, wee find that the sayd Collines was slayn by misadventure & culpable of his own death & not upon anie former malice, & therefore the said James Robinson not guilty of murder.  Julie 29th, 1666." . . .  Wee, James Robinson, Walter Gyndall & Nathan Bedford, Ingage ourselves and estates unto our Soveraigne Lord the King In a bond of one hundred pounds.


The Condition of the obligation is such that if the aforesaid James Robinson shall within a Twelve Moenth & oe day sue out his pardon according to the due Course of Law, from his Majestys Honorable Commissioners, then this obligation to bee voyd."

Southgate, William S. (1853) The History of Scarborough, from 1633 to 1783. Collections of the Maine Historical Society 3: 70-1.

CC:  first a fisherman, then a farmer with “considerable” property.  Became a resident of Black Point in 1660 & called himself a “fisherman.”  Court of Associates fined him in 1661 for scandalous language [seems he was displeased with the Restoration!]:  Said:  “if the King were as hee should bee, hee would owne him when hee knew it, and that he was rightly established; and therefore hee would honour him when hee knew hee was, hee would doe it.”  His son Moses became a Quaker by 1671.

d. 1666 at age 58.  

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

JR:  Libby, 243-4, 579, 591:  m. Lucretia Foxwell [#5, dau. of Richard Foxwell, who was a merchant involved in trading Indian goods] who was age 24 in 1668, retiring to Newcastle when Philip's War began.  Portsmouth constable, 1679-1680 [NOTE AGAIN:  THE TOUGH WATCHING OVER THE TOUGH!!!].  Had a 40-acre grant in 1682-3. His widow relinquished administration of his estate on 4/6/1710 & it was granted to his dau. Elizabeth White on 5/1/1710.  Children:  Rebecca (m. John Pitman, Jr. of Marblehead); Elizabeth (m. Nathan White); Mary (m. Henry Trefethen); Margaret (tailoress at Great Island, m. Capt. Hugh Reed [#2 of Newcastle, gentleman, rep. to the assembly 1717-1720]).


CC:  Libby, 159:  had much difficulty defending his rights throughout his life.  Marshal's deputy in Lynn, 1650; constable, Scarborough, 1664.  [AGAIN:  LOOK AT WHO THE CONSTABLES ARE!!!]  //  In 1651, his wife, Jane, lay 10 weeks in jail under accus. of wtichcraft, for which her husband sued her accuser & appealed to the Ct. of Assts.  In Maine she was fined for knitting on Sunday.  Her daugh. Williams was living with her in 1675.  Children:  Deborah (m. Henry Williams); Moses (adult in 1670, flogged as a Quaker.  adm. to his brother Timothy); Timothy (adult in 1675; of Newbury in 1680, he sold his father's Scarborough lands; wife Abigail; adm. granted 3/25/1680); Susannah (p8ut under bonds to avoid Francis Shallet 4/6/1675).

Accused:  

James Robinson 

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:

at least 3 daught.

Occupation:

cooper

Town:


Black Point

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  


Christopher Collins

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


58

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Jane Greepe in England.

Children:

at least 2 sons & 2 daughters

Occupation:

shoemaker

Town:


Black Point (in Boston 1640, Braintree 1645, Lynn 1648, Blue Point-Scarborough 1660) [[Libby calls Black Point "Blue Point" through his book]]

Birthplace:

b. England

Religion:




Organizations:



1669




Casco

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE MOTHER by SON

Motive:  GERONTICIDE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  an Indian m. his mother


Weapon:  phys / neglect


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Paul J. Lindbolt, John Josselyn, Colonial Traveler:  A Critical Edition of Two Voyales to New-England (Hanover:  Univ. Press of New England, 1988), 92.  On the Indians of Maine.  JJ visited Maine 1638-9 and 1663-71.



"very indulgent they are to their Children, and their children sometimes to their Parents, but if they live so long that they become a burden to them, they will either starve them or bury them alive, as it was supposed an Indian did to his Mother at Caso in 1669."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

f

Age:


adult (elderly)

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1681, Aug.




Scarborough, YORK

CT

NOTE:  the bruises on the body make this a possible rather than an uncertain case.

Class:   possible

Crime:  POSS HOM \ MANSL [Moody is still suspicious, and so am I:  but count this one]

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  poss FEUD / poss PROPERTY DISPUTE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Joshua Scottow m. Nathan Bedford


Weapon:  drowned; the bruises to the head and body not mortal  [phys]


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  i.d. Aug. 18, 1681:  INQUEST:  "Nathan Bedfords body being vewed, & his Corpes being searched by the Jurie of Inquest and Mr. Howlman a Chyergion, sd Jury did not find any of these bruises about his head or body to bee mortall, without drowning which they Judg to bee the Cause of his death, as appeares by the returne of the Jury of Inquest, which remaineth on fyle amongst the Records of this Court, August 24: 1681:"


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Southgate, William S. (1853) The History of Scarborough, from 1633 to 1783. Collections of the Maine Historical Society 3: 78-80, 115-26.  No new evidence on the crime:  simply quotes the court records.
Bedford:  admonished in 1667 for “not keeping due order in reference to his ordinary.”  IN 1669 presented “for selling beare and wine.”  In 1673 for “not providing a house of Intertaynment for Strangers.”  Kept the ordinary, 1667-1675, then bought a plantation.

Scottow:  hostility against him for his role in King Philip’s War, when he led a company.  Charged before General Court in 1676 for “improving” the soldiers for his private advantage & for allowing inhabitants to suffer “for want of assistance he had been directed to afford them.”  (125)  fNG & complainant ordered to pay costs.  Townspeople still hostile to him in 1679:  when he petitioned the General Court for reimbursement for his expenses while in charge of Boston soldiers at Black Point, local citizens gathered a counter petition, denouncing JS & saying his claim was unfounded.  It seems he did manage to have the troops improve his property & plant crops in his fields!  7 signers.  Licensed in 1671 to sell small quantitites of beer & wine to fishermen.  //  a devout Puritan who wrote two popular devotional tracts in the 1690s

Province and Court Records of Maine, v. 3 (Portland:  Maine Historical Society, 1947).  Robert E. Moody, ed.


MURDER:  Scottow - Bedford, 1681


xxxix-xli, Joshua Scottow, a prominent man, according to the editor.  An "old planter" who had arrived in MA during the great migration, a moderate Puritan whose commercial interests & religious zeal never came into conflict.  Agent of Charles La Tour, the French official at St. John, in many business deals. JS amassed some wealth & many connections through his trading.  Took mortgage & later purchased property fr. Henry Jocelyn at Black Point in 1663.


JS never popular with the fishermen of the area (many of whom were debtors to HS) or with landholders (who had acrimonious disputes w. him over land titles).  HJ didn't like him either; unwilling to help JS press his legal claims to land titles.


Strong evidence that he used the garrison sent to Scarborough by the General Court during the Indian War of 1676 to protect his fishing interests instead of the town.  Acquitted of charges, despite considerable evidence agst him [ed. believes the evidence that JS did misuse the garrison is strong.]


Nathan Bedford, who had a 10 acre lease fr. JS, found drowned but marked by blows which show he had been involved in a struggle.  Rumor in Scarborough pointed to JS as the other party in the fracas.  [where is the editor's evidence from?]  The suspicions brought in evidence at the inquest.  "The coroner's jury equivocated a bit, but, challenged, backed down and refused to sustain any charges against Scottow."  (xl)


22, General Assembly, Aug. 18, 1681:  INQUEST:  "Nathan Bedfords body being vewed, & his Corpes being searched by the Jurie of Inquest and Mr. Howlman a Chyergion, sd Jury did not find any of these bruises about his head or body to bee mortall, without drowning which they Judg to bee the Cause of his death, as appeares by the returne of the Jury of Inquest, which remaineth on fyle amongst the ReCords of this Court, August 24: 1681:"


86, Court of Pleas, May 30, 1682:  "Upon further Inquisition in the virdict of the Coroners quest relateing to the death of Nathan Bedford, this Court Accepts of the Jurys virdict, without haveing suspition of any person being guilty of his death.


  Mr. Scottow cleard."


Suffolk Files #1828:  Joshua Scottow & Wheelwright, Feb. 1679 -- HOMICIDE RELATED:  see also 1641 & 162190.  The suit of Capt. Joshua Scottow of Boston v. Nicholas Shapleigh of Kittery for slander & defamation.  


Collections of the Maine Historical Society (1853) 3: .  An article that claims to prove that NB died of an accidental drowning & that Scottow was in no way responsible.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Hubbard, NARRATIVE (Drake’s 1865 edition, notes):  says that Scottow was charged with cruelty during King Philip’s War, during which he was an officer.

Accused:  

Joshua Scottow 

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

planter, [farmer], trader, great wealth:  the principal landowner & merchant in the town
Town:


Scarborough

Birthplace:



Religion:

moderate Puritan; Congregationalist
Organizations:

officer during King Philip’s War
Victim:  

Nathan Bedford

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

tavern keeper, 1667-75:  kept an “ordinary”; then bought a plantation & became a farmer; at landowner:  a plantation & house on Blue Point, where he had kept the ordinary, probably for local fishermen
Town:


Scarborough

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

the town’s first constable in 1665
1688, Nov.




Cape Porpus, YORK

CT


NOTE:  may have been more of a warlike raid than a robbery, but not at war in 1688, so count as homicide.

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  ROBBERY / CAPTIVES

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  "Old Doney" & other Indians m. "one of his Majties Subjects"


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  at or near Cape Porpus on the Kennebec River, stole stood, carried Mary Barkey (12) and James Crocker (16) into captivity, & murdered one English person


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

2504:  Warrant to apprehend "Old Doney" & other Indians for Burglary, 22 Nov 1688.


at or near Cape Porpus on Kenebunk River in Maine.  Stole goods; stole James Crocker (age 16); "& are strongly suspected to have lately Murthered our of his Majties Subjects lately found killed at Cape Porpus"; & to have stolen Mary Barkey [?] (age 12).  


[Dominion of New England; Andros governor.]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:  

Accused:  

"Old Doney" & other Indians 

Ethnicity:

[Abenaki]

Race:


Ind

Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:




Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Cape Porpus

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1692, March 1




YORK

D

CT

GOVT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE BROTHER by BROTHER

Motive:  [QUARREL] / JUSTIFIED / SELF-DEFENSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Baker Nason m. Jonathan Nason


Weapon:  oar  [club]


Circumstances:  in a canoe on the Piscataqua River.  Killed his older brother in self-defense.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  4/1693t, special Court of Oyer and Terminer


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fNG.

Source:  

Thomas, Sewall Diary, 1: 288 (3/11/1692):  "Wincoll brought us the Jury's verdict about Baker Nason's killing his elder Brother Jonathan Nathan [sic] with his Oar in the Canoe in Pascataqua River; and asks advice whether to keep him there, or send him to Boston-Prison.  Seems to have done it in's own defence March 1. 1691/2."


Province and Court Records of Maine, v. 4 (Portland:  Maine Historical Society, 1947).  Neal W. Allen, Jr., ed.


10-11:  Court of Oyer & Terminer held by special commission, Apr. 5, 1693:  grand jury indicted Baker Nason for murder of his brother, Jonathan Nason.  [ed. says there is no file, only the entry in Sewall's diary, on the particulars.]  Jury of life & death found him NOT GUILTY of willful murder.


Mass. Exec. Council Records, 2: 196 (10/22/1692):  appted. Court of Oyer & Terminer to hear and determine "all manner of Felonies, Murders, Homicides, ManSlaughters and other offenses done and perpetrated within the County of York."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Baker Nason 

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Jonathan Nason

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Suspect(s








